**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA**

**SUPREME COURT CAUSE NO. DA 24-0203**

---

JOEY ZAHARA,

Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

ADVANCED NEUROLOGY SPECIALISTS,

Defendant/Appellee.

---

**APPELLANT ZAHARA'S OPENING BRIEF**

---

On appeal from the Eighth Judicial District of the State of Montana, in and for  
Cascade County, Cause No. CDV-14-093; The Honorable John Kutzman

---

*Appearances for Plaintiff/Appellant Joey Zahara*

Daniel Flaherty  
Paul Gallardo  
FLAHERTY GALLARDO LAW  
P.O. Box 1968  
Great Falls, MT 59403  
(406) 727-8537  
[daniel@greatfallsfirm.com](mailto:daniel@greatfallsfirm.com)  
[paul@greatfallsfirm.com](mailto:paul@greatfallsfirm.com)

Martha Sheehy

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether Montana's statutory cap of \$250,000 on non-economic damages incurred by victims of medical malpractice is unconstitutional.
2. In the alternative, whether the statutory cap of \$250,000 limits Zahara's recovery of damages for loss of established course of life.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 5, 2013, Plaintiff Joey Zahara suffered a stroke, the effects of which were tragically and profoundly exacerbated by negligent medical treatment. Zahara filed a medical malpractice suit against Dr. William Henning and Advanced Neurology Specialists (collectively, "ANS"). After a four-day trial, on September 15, 2022, a jury found that Dr. Henning negligently foreclosed the administration of clot-dissolving medication (tPA) to Zahara during the treatment of Zahara's stroke in 2013, resulting in catastrophic injuries. (Order, App. 3, ¶ 1).

The jury awarded the following damages:

Past emotional distress	\$1 million
Future emotional distress	\$1.5 million
Past pain and suffering	\$1 million
Future pain and suffering	\$1 million
Past loss of established course of life	\$500,000
Future loss of established course of life	<u>\$1 million</u>
TOTAL	\$6 million.

(Verdict, Court Record ("CR") 238, App. 47).

ANS moved the Court to reduce the \$6 million verdict to \$250,000 pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 25-9-411 – the medical malpractice cap. (CR 256). Zahara responded that the statutory cap is unconstitutional. (CR 262).

On January 22, 2024, the district court issued its Order on Constitutionality of the Medical Malpractice Statutory Cap, holding that § 25-9-411 required reduction of the jury’s \$6,000,000 verdict to \$250,000. (App. 3). The Court held that the statutory cap applied to all three forms of damages awarded by the jury – emotional distress, pain and suffering, and loss of established course of life. (App. 27). The district court entered judgment against ANS in the amount of \$250,000, plus costs of \$7,166.60 and statutory interest. (App. 28).

On February 20, 2024, Zahara moved the district court to amend the judgment, asserting that § 25-9-411’s cap does not apply, on its face, to \$1.5 million awarded to Zahara to compensate for past and future loss of established course of life. (CR 277). The district court denied the motion in a written order on April 1, 2024. (App. 29).

Zahara appeals from the order reducing the \$6 million verdict to \$250,000 (App. 3); from the judgment in the amount of \$257,166.60 (App. 28); and from the order (App. 29) denying Zahara’s motion to amend the judgment by applying the cap only to the types of damages listed in § 25-9-411, Mont. Code Ann.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### A. Zahara's Tort Claim for Personal Injury.

At 6:00 p.m. (18:00) on June 5, 2013, 27-year-old Joey Zahara suffered a stroke. He experienced weakness, paresthesia, facial droop, difficulty standing, and impaired speech. (App. 34). Zahara was rushed to the emergency room ("ER") at Benefis Hospital in Great Falls, Montana, arriving at 18:32. (App. 34). He was evaluated by ER physician, Dr. Kevin Takakuwa. At 19:05, Dr. Takakuwa consulted by telephone with the on-call neurologist, Dr. Henning. (App. 36). Dr. Henning recommended administration of tPA, a drug that dissolves stroke-causing clots. (App. 42). ANS concedes that the accepted standard for administering tPA is within 3 to 4.5 hours after the onset of stroke symptoms. (CR 137, ANS's Statement of Undisputed Facts, ¶ 17). Joey consented to the treatment at 19:23 – well within the 4.5-hour window. (App. 35).

Before tPA was delivered, Joey improved and the drug was withheld. (App. 35). Dr. Takakuwa found that Joey had returned to a baseline condition around 20:40. (App. 35-36). Dr. Weill, a hospitalist, admitted Joey to the hospital for observation. (App. 36).

Dr. Weill documented a History of Present Illness as part of Joey's admission. (App. 37). At 22:00, the stroke reoccurred, opening a new window for

administering tPA until 2:30 a.m. on June 6. (App. 40). Dr. Weill spoke with Dr. Henning by phone, and Dr. Henning considered whether Joey should receive tPA, but rejected administration of the drug. (App. 42).

At trial, Zahara established that Dr. Henning failed to come to the hospital at all, much less within the 25 minutes of the stroke patient's presentation, as required by hospital policy. (Tr. Trans. Day 2, p. 17). Through expert testimony, Joey further established that Dr. Henning's failure to attend to Joey in person led the neurologist to erroneously reject administration of tPA, costing Joey the chance at a better recovery. (*Id.*, 17). Dr. Venkatsubramanian, a neurologist, unequivocally testified that Dr. Henning did not meet the standard of care and his negligence more likely than not caused Joey's permanent injuries. (*Id.*, 16, 35-36).

The jury determined that Dr. Henning was negligent in his treatment of Joey, and that his negligence caused Joey's injuries. (App. 47-48). Having not received tPA, Joey suffers longterm, devastating injuries from his stroke. For the rest of his life, likely fifty years, Joey will suffer daily pain as a result of his inability to use the right side of his body. He will endure unremitting emotional distress from the injury to 35% of his brain, along with socially debilitating issues with memory and depression. He will suffer not just from the inability to pursue life as a fully active man, fully employed worker, and fully engaged father, but

from knowing what he is missing. Considering the evidence, the jury reasonably awarded \$6,000,000 to compensate Joey for his past and future emotional distress, pain and suffering, and loss of established course of life. (App. 48).

**B. Background of Section 25-9-411, Mont. Code Ann.**

The 1997 Montana Legislature enacted § 25-9-411 (“the statutory cap”), which imposes a \$250,000 limit on noneconomic damage awards in medical malpractice cases. The statute reads, in pertinent part:

In a malpractice claim or claims against one or more healthcare providers based on a single incident of malpractice, and award for past and future damages for noneconomic loss deriving from injuries to a patient are subject to an award not to exceed \$250,000.

The statutory cap includes both a “temporary” version and an “effective on occurrence of contingency” version, which becomes effective if the “temporary” version is declared unconstitutional. However, the differences between the two versions of the statute do not affect the constitutional analysis; both versions of the statute are unconstitutional for the same reasons. References in this brief to the statutory cap, and all arguments made regarding its constitutionality, apply to both versions.

## STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The constitutionality of § 25-9-411 is a question of law, and this Court has plenary review of constitutional questions. *State v. Knudson*, 2007 MT 324, ¶ 12, 340 Mont. 167, 174 P.3d 469. Statutes are presumed constitutional, and the party challenging a statute has the burden of proving it unconstitutional or showing that the statute infringes on a fundamental right. *Montana Democratic Party v. Jacobsen*, 2024 MT 66, ¶ 11, 545 P.3d 1074. If the challenger shows an infringement on a fundamental right, no presumption of constitutionality exists, the statute is reviewed under a higher level of scrutiny, and the burden necessarily shifts to ANS to demonstrate that the statute is constitutional. *Id.* If the right is not fundamental but is still protected in the Constitution, or when a fundamental right has been minimally burdened, middle-tier scrutiny applies, which balances the rights infringed against the government interest served by the infringement. *Id.*, ¶ 36.

With respect to whether § 25-9-411 limits damages for loss of established course of life, the interpretation and construction of the statute is a matter of law which is reviewed *de novo* to determine whether the district court's interpretation and construction of the statute is correct. *State v. Brown*, 2009 MT 452, ¶ 6, 354 Mont. 329, 223 P.3d 874.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 25-9-411, which imposes an arbitrary \$250,000 cap on noneconomic damages suffered by meritorious victims of medical malpractice, is unconstitutional. The trial court erred in finding the statute constitutional based entirely upon a misguided reliance on *Meech v. Hillhaven West, Inc.*, 238 Mont. 21, 776 P.2d 488 (1988), which held that “full legal redress” is not a fundamental right. The trial court all but begged this Court to reverse *Meech*. (App. 19).

Facially, § 25-9-411 cannot pass constitutional muster under any analysis. First, *Meech*, does not control the interpretation of § 25-9-411 when appropriately limited to its facts and holding. Regardless, *Meech* should be distinguished or reversed based on subsequent decisions of this Court determining that full legal redress is a fundamental right. *Bucy v. Edward Jones & Co.*, 2019 MT 173, ¶ 30, 396 Mont. 408, 445 P.3d 812. Second, under this Court’s controlling precedent, Zahara’s rights of equal protection, jury trial, full legal redress, and equal protection – all of which are set forth in the Montana Constitution’s Declaration of Rights – are fundamental rights subject to strict scrutiny analysis. *Kortum-Managhan v. Herbergers NBGL*, 2009 MT 79, ¶ 25, 349 Mont. 475, 204 P.3d 683. Using strict scrutiny analysis, § 25-9-411 must be found unconstitutional because the statute does not promote a compelling government interest using the lease

onerous means. *Driscoll v. Stapleton*, 2020 MT 247, ¶ 18, 401 Mont. 405, 473 P.3d 386. Third, if this Court determines that Zahara’s rights have only been minimally burdened by the statutory cap, the middle-tier analysis applies and requires a finding of unconstitutionality. *Jacobsen*, 2024 MT 66, ¶ 36. Finally, § 25-9-411 fails to meet even the most generous rational relationship test, because the only interest pursued in the statute is cost control for a single industry and the inadequate \$250,000 cap is not rationally related to even that interest. *Satterlee v. Lumberman’s Mut. Cas. Co.*, 2009 MT 368, ¶ 29, 353 Mont. 265, 222 P.3d 566 (declaring § 39-71-710 unconstitutional under rational basis review).

As applied to Zahara, § 25-9-411 violates the right to remedy, full legal redress, and separation of power principles by replacing the jury’s specific, evidence-based verdict with the 1997 Legislature’s arbitrary finding that Zahara is entitled to only \$250,000. The cap defeats the jury’s fundamental right to determine facts at the trial level. *See Lebron v. Gottlieb Memorial Hosp.*, 930 N.E.2d 895, 907 (Ill. 2010). Moreover, the medical malpractice cap constitutes “special legislation” to benefit the medical malpractice insurance industry at Zahara’s expense, in violation of Article II, § 31. *See Wright v. Central Du Page Hospital Ass’n*, 347 N.E.2d 736, 743 (Ill. 1976).

In the alternative, § 25-9-411's definition of "noneconomic loss" does not include damages awarded to Zahara for "loss of established course of life."<sup>1</sup> The reduction of that particular damage, not identified specifically in the statute, infringes on Zahara's constitutional rights as well.

## ARGUMENT

### I. SECTION 25-9-411 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE.

While statutes are presumed constitutional, a facial challenge to a statute's validity succeeds when, as here, "no set of circumstances exist under which the challenged sections would be valid." *City of Missoula v. Mountain Water Company*, 2018 MT 139, ¶ 21, 391 Mont. 422, 419 P.3d 685. "Facial challenges do not depend on the facts of a particular case." *Id.* Section 25-9-411's limitation on the recovery of damages in excess of \$250,000 violates medical malpractice victims' constitutional rights to equal protection, trial by jury, remedy for injury, and due process, irrespective of the facts of a particular victim's case.

---

<sup>1</sup>For convenience, throughout Sections I and II of this brief, Zahara will refer to all three types of damages (pain and suffering, emotional distress, and loss of established course of life) as "noneconomic damages," as determined by the district court. (App. 29). However, as shown in Section III of this brief, Zahara disputes the district court's finding that loss-of-established-course damages constitute "noneconomic damages" as defined in § 25-9-411, and asserts that the if the statute is not deemed unconstitutional, the statutory cap does not apply to loss-of-course-of-life damages.

The review of a statute’s constitutionality entails three related inquiries: (1) the nature of the rights at issue – whether fundamental or constitutionally protected; (2) the extent of the infringement on those rights and the resulting determination of the appropriate scrutiny required – strict, intermediate, or rational basis; and (3) whether the statute survives the appropriate scrutiny. *See Jacobsen*, 2024 MT 66, ¶ 34; *Driscoll*, 2020 MT 247, ¶ 18.

**A. The Rights at Issue are Fundamental Rights.**

*1. All rights enumerated in Article II are fundamental.*

In Article II, the Montana Constitution secures specific rights for all citizens. These rights include equal protection of the laws (Art. II, § 4); right to remedy and full legal redress (Art. II, § 16); right to due process (Art. II, § 17); and the right to a jury trial (Art. II, § 26). As rights enunciated in the Declarations of Rights, these are indisputably fundamental rights. “This Court has repeatedly held that the rights enumerated in the Declaration of Rights (Article II) of Montana’s Constitution are fundamental constitutional rights.” *Kortum*, 2009 MT 79, ¶ 25; *citing Yellowstone County v. Billings Gazette*, 2006 MT 218, ¶ 37, 333 Mont. 390, 143 P.3d 135; *State v. Tapson*, 2001 MT 292, ¶ 15, 307 Mont. 428, 41 P.3d 305; *accord Walker v. State*, 2003 MT 134, ¶ 74, 316 Mont. 103, 68 P.3d 872; *Gryczan v. State*, 283 Mont. 433, 449, 942 P.2d 112, 122 (1997).

Fundamental “means that these rights are significant components of liberty.”

*Kloss v. Edward D. Jones*, 2002 MT 129, ¶ 53, 310 Mont. 123, 54 P.3d 1 (J.

Nelson, *concurring*).

2. *Meech does not control.*

Relying entirely on *Meech*, the trial court erred in determining that the right to full legal redress is not a fundamental right, and consequentially erred in applying the wrong standard to the constitutional analysis of all the constitutional rights at issue. The trial court incorrectly concluded that it “cannot grant Mr. Zahara the relief he seeks without violating *Meech*, a controlling decision that a district court simply cannot disregard.” (App. 27).

*Meech*’s reasoning is limited in scope to the employment setting. In *Meech*, this Court reviewed the constitutionality of the Wrongful Discharge from Employment Act, which “established the extent of employers’ liability for wrongful discharge.” 238 Mont. at 25, 776 P.2d at 490. The Act forecloses a discharged employee’s claim to damages for “pain and suffering, emotional distress, compensatory damages, or punitive damages,” and limits a discharged employee’s compensatory damages to four years’ wages less interim wages the employee earned or could have earned. § 39-2-905, Mont. Code Ann. The Court specifically analyzed the second sentence of Article II, § 16, which applies only to

employment disputes: “No person shall be deprived of this full legal redress for injury incurred in employment for which another person may be liable except as to fellow employees and his immediate employer who hired him if such immediate employer provides coverage under the Workmen’s Compensation Laws of this state.” *Id.* at 35, 776 P.2d at 496. The *Meech* Court relied extensively on the record from the Constitutional Convention, which demonstrates that the “full legal redress” provision was added by the Delegates to the remedy guarantee of Article II, § 16 “to address a specific problem” related to workers’ compensation. *Id.* at 38, 776 P.2d at 498.

In reaching its conclusions, the *Meech* Court focused upon the *quid pro quo* legislation already in place at the time of the adoption of § 16 – the Workers’ Compensation Act – and noted that wrongful discharge claims, though torts, are rooted in the employment contract between employer and employee. *Id.* The Court emphasized that the “[Workers’ Compensation] Act’s limitation on noneconomic damages applies long-standing contract law” which disallowed noneconomic damages such as emotional distress. *Id.* at 50, 776 P.2d at 505. That is not true with respect to tort claims, such as medical malpractice. On its own text and logic, *Meech* should be limited to the employment setting.

Moreover, in *Meech* the claimant alleged only a violation of “full legal redress.” “*Meech* allege[d] no other infringement of fundamental rights by operation of the Act. . . .” *Id.* at 44, 776 P.2d at 502. Specifically, as stated by the Court, the only issue in *Meech* was “whether the [Wrongful Discharge] Act’s prohibition on the recovery of noneconomic damages and punitive damages violates Article II, § 16.” *Id.* The *Meech* Court analyzed equal protection, but merely determined that no suspect classifications were present in the Wrongful Discharge Act. *Id.* Here, *Zahara* has established that the statutory cap infringes upon several additional fundamental rights: due process, right to a jury trial, and equal protection. Each constitutional section constitutes a separate and enforceable fundamental constitutional right. *Madison v. Yunker*, 180 Mont. 54, 63, 589 P.2d 126, 131 (1978). *Meech*’s determination regarding “full legal redress” has no bearing or applicability to the other rights at issue in this case.

Make no mistake, *Zahara* asserts that the *Meech* Court erred in holding that Article II, § 16 does not enunciate a fundamental right. However, the decision preceded the full development of this Court’s framework for constitutional analysis. This Court can – and should – reverse *Meech*’s holding regarding the nature of the right to full legal redress, and place the issue squarely within this Court’s consistent constitutional analysis by reaffirming that all rights enunciated

in Article II are fundamental. *Kortum*, 2009 MT 79, ¶ 25. But this Court need not do so to grant relief to Zahara, because *Meech*'s reasoning does not apply to the analysis of the constitutionality of § 25-9-411 at all, and certainly not with respect to the right to a jury trial, equal protection, or due process. Instead, this Court should adhere to its longstanding precedent establishing that Article II rights are fundamental.

**B. The Statutory Cap Impermissibly Infringes on Constitutional Rights, Requiring Strict Scrutiny or Middle-Tier Analysis.**

The next inquiry is the extent of cap's infringement on medical malpractice victims' constitutional rights and the resulting scrutiny to be applied.

Impermissible infringements upon rights guaranteed by the Declaration of Rights (Article II) are afforded the most stringent protection. *Id.* This Court “determine[s] whether a law impermissibly interferes with a fundamental right by examining the degree to which the law infringes upon it.” *Jacobsen*, 2024 MT 66, ¶ 34, *citing Wadsworth v. State*, 275 Mont. 287, 302, 911 P.2d 1165, 1173 (1996); *Driscoll*, 2020 MT 247, ¶ 18. Fundamental rights which are burdened only minimally are reviewed under middle-tier analysis. *Jacobsen*, 2024 MT 66, ¶ 36. The statutory cap impermissibly and pervasively interferes with the constitutional guarantees of equal protection, trial by jury, full legal redress, and due process.

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