FILED

08/21/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0203

SUPREME COURT CAUSE NO. DA 24-0203

JOEY ZAHARA, Plaintiff and Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

ADVANCED NEUROLOGY SPECIALISTS, Defendant and Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE AND BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT ADVANCED NEUROLOGY SPECIALISTS

On appeal from the Eighth Judicial District of the State of Montana, in and for Cascade County, Cause No. CDV-14-093, The Honorable John Kutzman

Appearances for Defendant and Appellee/Cross-Appellant Advanced Neurology Specialists:

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

The Legislature has well-established authority to establish the legal framework for damages-precisely what the Cap does. Indeed, as recently noted by the Court, Montana's Constitution provides the legislature the "exclusive authority to enact" laws while providing the judiciary with "exclusive authority and duty to

¹¹ This Court should subject Zahara's separation-of-powers challenge to the same no-set-of-circumstances standard applied to facial challenges. *City of Missoula*, ¶ 15. Despite labeling this claim as-applied, he has not pointed to any facts that render the cap a violation of the separation of powers in his "particular case" as opposed to any other plaintiff's. *Id.* ¶ 25.

adjudicate the nature, meaning, and extent of applicable constitutional, statutory, and common law." *Bullock v. Fox*, 2019 MT 50, ¶ 26, 395 Mont. 35, 435 P.3d 1187 (citing Mont. Const. arts. III, § 1, VI, § 4(1), VII, § 1); *see also Phillips v. City of Whitefish*, 2014 MT 186, ¶ 29, 375 Mont. 456, 330 P.3d 442 ("The power to *make and repeal laws* resides in the legislative branch." (emphasis added)); *Larson v. State*, 2019 MT 28, ¶ 42, 394 Mont. 167, 434 P.3d 241 ("Within constitutional limits, this Court and its subordinate courts have the exclusive authority and duty to adjudicate the nature, meaning, and extent of applicable constitutional, statutory, and common law and to render appropriate judgments thereon in the context of cognizable claims for relief.").

Many states have rejected similar separation of-power claims.¹² As these decisions recognize, there is "long-established role for legislative involvement in jury trials," ranging from establishing standards of proof to determining the "elements of torts." *Judd*, 2004 UT 91, ¶ 38. "Given that extensive role in so many aspects of the jury trial process, it is incorrect to view the right to a jury determination of the facts of the case to be so broad as to prohibit any legislative involvement in the types and extent of damages that may be awarded." *Id*.

¹² E.g., Judd, 2004 UT 91, ¶ 38; MacDonald, 715 S.E.2d at 415; Garhart ex rel. Tinsman v. Columbia/Healthone, L.L.C., 95 P.3d 571, 581 (Colo. 2004); Gourley, 663 N.2d at 76; Pulliam v. Coastal Emerg. Servs., 509 S.E.2d 307 (Va. 1999).

The Legislature's role in defining jury awards in Montana is well established. *E.g.*, *Schuff*, ¶ 114 (requiring a reduction in damages for collateral sources). This Court would be diverging from longstanding precedent if it concluded that the Legislature lacked authority to enact laws relating to available damages.

6. The Cap does not violate the prohibition on granting special privileges.

Zahara also asserts (O.B. 49) that the Cap violates article II, section 31 of the Montana Constitution, which prohibits the legislature from passing a law "making any irrevocable grant of special privileges." This Court should not consider the argument because Zahara did not make it below. [*See* App'x 13.] It is therefore not preserved for appeal. *Burton v. Adams*, 2002 MT 236N, ¶ 10.

Moreover, Zahara has not carried his burden of demonstrating beyond a reasonable doubt that the cap is unconstitutional. *Brown*, ¶ 32. The opening brief contains no explanation as to why the cap violates this provision. It does not even identify who is apparently receiving special privileges. The lack of specificity is inadequate to merit further consideration. *See, e.g., Allmaras v. Yellowstone Basin Prop.*, 248 Mont. 477, 483, 812 P.2d 770, 773 (1991) (observing that it is appellant's burden to provide analysis and authority before declining to address due process challenge based on appellant's failure to carry this burden).

C. Though inapplicable, the Cap survives even heightened scrutiny.

Because the Cap does not infringe on any fundamental right (or regulate a suspect class), this Court need not address questions of scrutiny. At most, rational basis review would apply. To the extent they apply scrutiny, "[a] majority of jurisdictions apply a rational basis or other similar test and determine that a statutory cap on damages does not violate equal protection" or other constitutional provisions. *Gourley*, 663 N.W.2d at 71 (collecting cases). A recurring theme in these cases is that "malpractice victims with noneconomic losses that exceed \$250,000 do not constitute a suspect class and the right of recovery of tort damages is not a fundamental right." *Hoffman v. United States*, 767 F.2d 1431, 1435 (9th Cir. 1985).

The Cap easily survives rational basis review, but it would survive heightened scrutiny as well. As discussed above, the Legislature enacted the Cap to make quality health care more accessible by lowering medical malpractice insurance premiums. This is a legitimate purpose: "Ensuring the availability and affordability of health care services, as well as reducing the costs of medical malpractice insurance, are legitimate legislative objectives." *Est. of McCarthy v. Mont.* 2nd *Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 1999 MT 309, ¶ 19, 297 Mont. 212, 994 P.2d 1090.¹³

¹³ Because the Cap was intended to expand the accessibility of health care, and not just contain health care costs, Zahara's arguments (O.B. 37–38) as to the insufficiency of cost-containment as a legislative rationale are irrelevant.

The Cap is not only rationally related, but also narrowly tailored, to that purpose. The Legislature considered evidence that medical malpractice premiums were growing significantly and that the high premiums were causing physicians to cut services. As discussed above, the Legislature also weighed evidence that similar caps had been successful in lowering premiums in other states and that Montana's insurers would adjust their rates if the cap were enacted. The Cap was the *only* viable solution. At the time of the cap's enactment, a federal study concluded that "damages caps were the *only* type of State tort reform that consistently showed significant results in reducing the malpractice cost indicators."¹⁴

Zahara argues that the Cap has not worked. (O.B. 34–36.) But that argument is legally irrelevant. Constitutional scrutiny is backward looking, focusing on the information available to the Legislature when it made its decision. *City of Missoula*, ¶ 27. Nor is the argument based in fact. Even if insurance premiums have risen, Zahara does not dispute that premiums likely would have risen more absent the Cap. And, contrary to his suggestion, the evidence regarding rate increases is inconclusive. Some sources suggest that "[i]n recent years, rates

¹⁴ OTA, Impact of Legal Reforms, supra, at 64 (1993) (emphasis added).

have been holding steady or decreasing" in Montana.¹⁵ Evidence also suggests that Montana's rates are in-line with national premiums—confirming the Cap has successfully stabilized rates.¹⁶

The Cap's success is also supported by the increasing numbers of physicians who provide services in Montana.¹⁷ Removal of the Cap could deter such service expansion and risk returning Montana to the situation in the 1990s, when physicians were cutting services.

There is no merit to Zahara's suggestion (O.B. 33–34) that the Cap is unreasonable because the Legislature chose not to adjust the amount annually for inflation. "Presumably the legislature was aware of the effects of inflation and could have opted for some cap indexed to inflation." *Est. of Verba v. Ghaphery*, 552 S.E.2d 406, 411 (W. Va. 2001) (quote and citation omitted). "That the legislature did not index the cap to inflation but set forth an absolute dollar amount does not render the cap unconstitutional." *Id.* (quote and citation omitted). The

¹⁵ Cunningham Group, *Montana Malpractice Insurance* (2024), https://www.cunninghamgroupins.com/medical-malpractice-insurance-by-state/montana/.

¹⁶ *Id*.

¹⁷ See Arati Dahl & Susan Skillman, *Montana's Physician Workforce* 2021, at 2, Univ. of Wash. Ctr. for Health Workforce Studies (2022), https://familymedicine.uw.edu/chws/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2022/08/Montana Physicians July-2022.pdf

amount of the Cap is a complicated socioeconomic decision that falls within the Legislature's prerogative.

II. The Cap Applies to Loss of Established Course of Life Damages

As an alternative to invalidating the Cap, Zahara contends that loss-ofestablished-course-of-life damages should be exempted from its scope. (O.B. 49– 52.) Zahara's fallback position also lacks merit.

A. Loss of established course of life damages are a "noneconomic loss" subject to the Cap.

On its face, the Cap applies to any noneconomic damage, which the statute specifically defines as a "subjective, nonmonetary loss." § 25-9-411(2)(d). Beyond this definition, which clearly implicates loss of established course of life damages, the Legislature added a *non-exhaustive* list of examples. *Id.* YetZahara contends (at 49–50) that loss-of-established-course-of-life damages should be excluded from the cap because they are not specifically listed in the statute's definition of a noneconomic loss.

The district court correctly rejected that argument. "[T]he statutory list is, by the plain language . . . non-exclusive." [App'x 30.] As this Court has previously explained, the language "including but not limited to" in § 25-9-411(2)(d) means the subsequent list of examples is not exhaustive. *S&P Brake Supply, Inc. v. Daimler Trucks N. Am., LLC*, 2018 MT 25, ¶ 12, 390 Mont. 243, 411 P.3d 1264. Zahara's attempts to cast the list as definite are unpersuasive. "In effect, Mr. Zahara invokes the '*expressio unius est exclusion alterius*' canon of statutory construction without specifically naming it." [App'x 30.] But as the district court pointed out, that canon is inapplicable where, as here, the legislature made clear that the statutory list was not intended to be exhaustive. *E.g.*, *People v. Brooks*, 23 Cal. App'x 5th 932, 943, 233 Cal. Rptr. 3d 606, 615 (Cal. App'x 2018) (*expressio unius* "does not apply to an item in an illustrative list, such as we have here, as indicated by the language 'including but not limited to").

Under the statute's plain language, any form of damage is subject to the cap if it is "subjective" and "nonmonetary," regardless of whether specifically enumerated in the list of exemplar damages. *See* § 25-9-411(5)(d). Loss of established course of life damages are both.

First, as the district court concluded, loss-of-established-course-of-life damages are "intrinsically subjective" in nature. [App'x 33.] "Subjective" means something that is "[b]ased on an individual's perceptions, feelings, or intentions, as opposed to externally verifiable phenomena." *Black's Law Dictionary* (Bryan A. Garner ed., 12th ed. 2024). Loss-of-established-course-of-life damages are inherently based in a plaintiff's individual perceptions, as they are intended to "compensate a permanently injured or disabled plaintiff for the loss of the ability to engage in or pursue chosen life activities that he or she had before the injury."

Breuer v. State, 2023 MT 242, ¶ 32 n.28, 414 Mont. 256, 539 P.3d 1147(quote and citations omitted).

At trial, Zahara appreciated this subjectivity. In closing, Zahara's counsel asked the jury to assess such damages based on the mental harm Zahara experienced from the loss of freedom of movement he suffered and his inability to "have the career of his choice." [Tr. Proceedings Pl. Closing Arg. 22, Sept. 15, 2022 ("Pl. Closing Tr.").] Counsel offered the jury no expert or objective evidence to calculate such damages, other than invoking loss of "Joey's hopes and dreams." [Pl. Closing Tr. 22.]

Second, loss-of-established-course-of-life damages are noneconomic. Noneconomic losses are "nonmonetary." *Black's Law Dictionary* (Bryan A. Garner ed., 11th ed. 2019). By contrast, an "[e]conomic loss" is "[a] monetary loss such as lost wages or lost profits." This Court has already distinguished established-course-of-life damages from economic losses. *See State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Freyer*, 2013 MT 301, ¶ 36, 372 Mont. 191, 312 P.3d 403 (distinguishing loss of course of life damages from economic damages and describing claims for these damages in wrongful death case as being "measured, *not by the economic loss* to the [plaintiff], but, rather, the emotional, physical, and monetary support the decedent would have provided [the plaintiff]" (emphasis added)). In other words, there is no substance to Zahara's objection that loss-ofestablished-course-of-life damages "are of a different kind and category than those enumerated in the statutory definition." (O.B. 51.) Because such damages are subjective and nonmonetary—the two statutory requirements—it is irrelevant whether they compensate a distinct injury from other types of noneconomic damages.

Zahara's position also contradicts established case law. As the district court explained, "[m]ultiple decisions applying Montana law confirm that loss of established course of life is indeed an unliquidated and subjective general damage," akin to the other damages listed in § 25-9-411(5)(d). [App'x 31.] For example, in *Rasmussen v. Sibert*, this Court categorized *both* pain and suffering damages and loss-of-established-course-life damages together as "general damages." 153 Mont. 286, 296, 456 P.2d 835, 840–41 (1969). The court distinguished those general damages from the economic damages the plaintiff won for damage to real property and medical expenses. *Id.* at 840.

To be sure, in *Breuer*, this Court recognized that loss-of-established-courseof-life damages are "[d]istinct from compensation for pain/suffering." *Breuer*, ¶ 32 n.28. But the fact that such damages compensate different harms—as do many of the expressly listed types of damages—does not mean they do not fit within the Cap's scope. To the contrary, in *Breuer*, this Court considered it so obvious that loss-of-established-course-of-life damages were nonmonetary in

nature that it did not question combining pain and suffering damages with loss-ofestablished-course-of-life damages when explaining the jury's damages award. *Id.* ¶ 16.

There also is no merit to Zahara's contention that loss-of-established-courseof-life damages should not be subject to the cap because such damages were recognized as a distinct category of damages when the Legislature enacted the Cap. (O.B. 51.) In 1995, it was well established that such damages were noneconomic damages akin to pain and suffering and thus would fall within the statutory definition without the Legislature having to specifically mention them. *E.g.*, *Rasmussen*, 153 Mont. at 296.¹⁸ The Legislature had no need to specifically identify all possible noneconomic damages when it provided a definition for "noneconomic loss" and provided a non-exhaustive list of examples. § 25-9-411(2)(d).

None of the cases Zahara cites (O.B. 50–51) suggest a contrary conclusion. As the district court recognized, those cases "hold only that an injured plaintiff *can* recover *money* for loss of established course of life." [App'x 33] (emphasis in

¹⁸ In his Rule 59 Motion below, Zahara relied heavily on the Cap's legislative history to argue that the Cap did not apply. [ANS' App'x 25-26] Zahara abandons those arguments in his opening brief and should not be permitted to revive them in his reply brief. As ANS explained in its filing below, such arguments lack merit in any event. [ANS App'x 12-16].

original). *E.g., Hern v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Ill.*, 2005 MT 301, ¶ 38, 329 Mont. 347, 125 P.3d 597 (recognizing that plaintiffs with qualifying injuries are "entitled" to "reasonable compensation for the destruction of [their] capacity to pursue an established course of life"). But "[d]amages are *always* monetary," so that is not a distinguishing feature. [App'x 33] (emphasis in original).

B. Zahara's constitutional arguments regarding the loss of established course of life damages are unpreserved and meritless.

Returning to constitutional arguments, Zahara contends that, to the extent the Cap applies to loss-of-established-course-of-life damages, it is unconstitutional. (O.B. 52.) This Court should not consider Zahara's argument because it is not preserved. Zahara never argued that point below. *See* [ANS' App'x 18-226]; *Burton*, ¶ 10. The Court should be especially reluctant to consider Zahara's argument given its underdevelopment. He devotes just two paragraphs to the argument. (O.B. 52.) That is far from establishing unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt.

In any event, Zahara's argument lacks merit. He cites no authority supporting his contention that he "is entitled to recover loss-of-established-course-of-life damages." (O.B. 52.) As explained above, "no one has a vested interest in any rule of common law." *Meech*, 238 Mont. at 31. As a corollary, the Legislature has authority to restrict established-course-of-life damages. *Id.* at 33–34.

There also is no merit to Zahara's contention that restricting

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